**Institute of Health Economics** 

# ECONOMIC EVALUATION OF COMPLEX HEALTH SYSTEM INTERVENTIONS: A DISCUSSION PAPER

**July 2014** 





## INSTITUTE OF HEALTH ECONOMICS

The Institute of Health Economics (IHE) is an independent, not-for-profit organization that performs research in health economics and synthesizes evidence in health technology assessment to assist health policy making and best medical practices.

## IHE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

#### Chair

Dr. Lorne Tyrrell –CIHR/GSK Chair in Virology, University of Alberta **Government and Public Authorities** Ms. Janet Davidson - Deputy Minister, Alberta Health Mr. Steve MacDonald - Deputy Minister, Alberta Innovation & Advanced Education Dr. Cy Frank – Chief Executive Officer, Alberta Innovates – Health Solutions Ms. Vickie Kaminski – President & CEO, Alberta Health Services Academia Dr. Walter Dixon - Associate VP Research, University of Alberta Dr. Jon Meddings – Dean, Faculty of Medicine, University of Calgary Dr. Douglas Miller – Dean, Faculty of Medicine & Dentistry, University of Alberta Dr. Ed McAuley – Vice-President Research, University of Calgary Dr. James Kehrer – Dean of Pharmacy, University of Alberta Dr. Braden Manns - SVARE Chair, University of Calgary Dr. Doug West - Chair, Department of Economics, University of Alberta Industry Ms. Lisa Marsden – Vice President, Cornerstone & Market Access, AstraZeneca Ms. Lauren Fischer - Vice President, Corporate Affairs, Eli Lilly Canada Inc. Ms. Jennifer Chan - Vice President, Policy & Communications, Merck Canada Dr. Ghislain Boudreau – Vice President Public Affairs, Pfizer Canada Inc. Vice-President, Public Affairs and Reimbursement, GlaxoSmithKline Inc. IHE

Mr. Doug Gilpin – Chair, Audit & Finance Committee

Dr. Egon Jonsson - Executive Director & CEO, Institute of Health Economics

Ms. Allison Hagen – Director of Finance, Operations & Administration, Institute of Health Economics

## **Institute of Health Economics**

# ECONOMIC EVALUATION OF COMPLEX HEALTH SYSTEM INTERVENTIONS: A DISCUSSION PAPER

Prepared by:

Don Husereau, Institute of Health Economics, Edmonton, Canada; Department of Epidemiology and Community Medicine, University of Ottawa, Ottawa, Canada; University for Health Sciences, Medical Informatics and Technology, Hall in Tirol, Austria

Philip Jacobs, Institute of Health Economics, Edmonton, Canada

Braden Manns, Department of Medicine, University of Calgary, Calgary, Canada

Ties Hoomans, Institute of Health Policy & Management, Erasmus University Rotterdam, The Netherlands; Department of Medicine, University of Chicago, United States

Deborah Marshall, Canada Research Chair (Health Systems and Services Research) and Arthur J.E. Child Chair Rheumatology Outcomes Research; Associate Professor, Department of Community Health Sciences, University of Calgary, Calgary, Canada

Robyn Tamblyn, Scientific Director, CIHR Institute of Health Services and Policy Research, James McGill Chair, Professor, Department of Medicine and Department of Epidemiology, Biostatistics and Occupational Health, McGill University, Montreal, Canada

Production of this document has been made possible by a financial contribution from the CIHR Institute of Health Services and Policy Research (CIHR IHSPR). The views expressed herein do not necessarily represent the official policy of CIHR Institute of Health Services and Policy Research (CIHR IHSPR). On behalf of the IHE-IHSPR Economic Evaluation of Complex Interventions Working Group:

#### Chair

Don Husereau, Institute of Health Economics, Edmonton, Canada; Department of Epidemiology and Community Medicine, University of Ottawa, Ottawa, Canada; University for Health Sciences, Medical Informatics and Technology, Hall in Tirol, Austria

#### Working Group Members

Owen Adams, Canadian Medical Association, Ottawa, ON

Stirling Bryan, Professor, School of Population & Public Health, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC; Director, Centre for Clinical Epidemiology & Evaluation, Vancouver, BC

Doug Coyle, Department of Epidemiology and Community Medicine, University of Ottawa, Ottawa, Canada

Catherine Deri-Armstrong, Department of Economics, University of Ottawa, Ottawa, Canada

Jeremy Grimshaw, Senior Scientist, Clinical Epidemiology Program Centre for Practice-Changing Research, Ottawa Hospital Research Institute, Ottawa, ON

Ties Hoomans, Institute of Health Policy & Management, Erasmus University Rotterdam, The Netherlands; Department of Medicine, University of Chicago, United States

Noah Ivers, Department of Family and Community Medicine, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON; Family Physician, Women's College Hospital, Toronto, ON

Philip Jacobs, Institute of Health Economics, Edmonton, Canada

Murray Krahn, Director, Toronto Health Economics and Technology Assessment Collaborative, Toronto, ON; Professor, Faculties of Medicine and Pharmacy, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON; Senior Scientist the Toronto General Research Institute, Toronto, ON; Adjunct Scientist at the Institute for Clinical Evaluative Sciences, Toronto, ON.

Susan Law, Associate professor, Department of Family Medicine, McGill University, Montreal, Canada

Malcolm Maclure, Professor, Department of Anesthesiology, Pharmacology and Therapeutics, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC; Adjunct Professor, School of Health Information Science, University of Victoria, Victoria, BC; Adjunct Professor, Epidemiology Department, Harvard School of Public Health, Boston, MA

Braden Manns, Department of Medicine, University of Calgary, Calgary, Canada

Deborah Marshall, Canada Research Chair (Health Systems and Services Research) and Arthur J.E. Child Chair Rheumatology Outcomes Research; Associate Professor, Department of Community Health Sciences, University of Calgary, Calgary, Canada

Meghan McMahon, CIHR Institute of Health Services and Policy Research, Canadian Institutes of Health Research, Toronto

John Sproule, Senior Policy Director, Institute of Health Economics, Edmonton, AB

Robyn Tamblyn, Scientific Director, CIHR Institute of Health Services and Policy Research, James McGill Chair, Professor, Department of Medicine and Department of Epidemiology, Biostatistics and Occupational Health, McGill University, Montreal, Canada





### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors of the report would like to thank the larger working group that volunteered their guidance and assistance with preparation of this report. The final report reflects comments received by the group but does not necessarily reflect endorsement from individuals or their affiliated organizations. We would also like to thank Marcel Saulnier, Mike Drummond, Mark Sculpher, Sumit Majumdar, and Anne Mcfarlane for providing initial thoughts on the scope of the paper; Meg McMahon and Laurel Taylor at the CIHR for providing continued support and Susan Law at the CIHR for coordinating review of the paper; Onil Bhattacharyya and Charles Normand for providing thoughtful comments on drafts; Dagmara Chojecki for her contributions and support with the literature portion; and Wendy McIndoo (IHE) for her support with editing and formatting of the final report.

## **Corresponding Author**

Please direct any inquiries about this report to Don Husereau at: dhusereau@ihe.ca.

## Funding

Production of this document has been made possible by a financial contribution from the CIHR Institute of Health Services and Policy Research (CIHR IHSPR).

The views expressed herein do not necessarily represent the official policy of CIHR Institute of Health Services and Policy Research (CIHR IHSPR).

## **Declared Competing Interest of Authors**

Competing interest is considered to be financial interest or non-financial interest, either direct or indirect, that would affect the research contained in this report or create a situation in which a person's judgment could be unduly influenced by a secondary interest such as personal advancement.

The authors of this publication claim no competing interests.

## **Suggested Citation**

Husereau D, Jacobs P, Manns B, Hoomans T, Marshall D, Tamblyn R, on behalf of the IHE-IHSPR Complex Interventions Working Group. *Economic evaluation of complex health system interventions: a discussion paper*. Edmonton AB: Institute of Health Economics; 2014 July.

### Web Address

This publication is available for free download from the IHE website at: www.ihe.ca.

Reproduction, redistribution, or modification of the information for any purposes is prohibited without the express written permission of the Institute of Health Economics

Institute of Health Economics, 2014

www.ihe.ca





## ABSTRACT

Complex health system interventions have been defined as those with multiple interacting components and may be described based on the presence of several underlying characteristics: (1) number and difficulty of behaviors required by those delivering or receiving the intervention; (2) number of groups or organizational levels targeted by the intervention; (3) number and variability of outcomes; (4) the use of feedback and the degree of flexibility or tailoring of the intervention permitted.

The discussion paper will provide guidance to those tasked with conducting an economic evaluation of complex health system interventions. The guidance will be an elaboration of existing national guidelines for economic evaluation, and serve as a discussion paper to aid investigators conducting economic evaluations of complex health interventions.

This discussion paper is intended to be a starting point for health system and policy researchers who wish to understand some of the fundamentals of economic evaluation and its application to complex health system interventions. There may also be relevance for funders of research as well as knowledge users aiming for a deeper understanding of these issues and value of the results of such analyses. It is also intended to help health system and policy researchers understand some of the fundamentals of economic evaluation and its application. This paper should not be considered an exhaustive treatise on the subject; it will be updated and revised regularly based on user feedback and the changing landscape in evaluation of complex interventions.

#### **Key Words:**

Cost-Benefit Analysis/statistics & numerical data\*; Cost-Benefit Analysis; Complex Interventions; Canada





## **Table of Contents**

Acknowledgementsi
Abstracti
Targeted scan of the literature1
Background1
Figure 1: Illustration of simple and complex interventions1
Figure 1a: Simple intervention1
Figure 1b: Complex intervention2
Integrated care interventions
Community-based and primary care interventions4
Guideline and clinical pathway implementation4
Population and public health interventions4
Tele-health and e-health interventions5
Economic Evaluation and Its Use in Decision-making6
Box 1: Forms of economic evaluation7
Box 2: Guidance for the economic evaluation of health technologies: Canada9
Box 3: International standards and guidance for conducting economic evaluation10
Purpose of Discussion Paper
How to Use this Document
Issues for the Economic Evaluation of Complex Interventions12
General issues12
Other issues
Elaboration of issues with examples13
Figure 2: Resource intensity of chronic disease management strategies15
Figure 3: Identified domains with their description and examples of outcome measures21
Figure 4: Types of resource use categories that may require consideration in economic evaluations of public health (outside of health)22
Concluding Remarks
References





## **TARGETED SCAN OF THE LITERATURE**

### Background

The term 'complex' has been used to describe health interventions that (i) have a number of interacting components, (ii) target groups or organizations rather than or in addition to individuals, (iii) have a variety of intended outcomes, and (iv) are amenable to tailoring or iterative development through adaptation and learning by feedback loops, and (v) where effectiveness is impacted by the behaviors of those delivering or receiving the intervention [1]. Since most health services interventions feature some of these traits, complexity may be considered a relative measure rather than an absolute state.

Interest in complex interventions has stemmed from increasing interest by health care funders and researchers in health system improvement through experimentation and evaluation, as well as a more recent focus on organizational, structural, and policy changes to improve health system delivery. It is now recognized, for example, that health interventions that are observed to be efficacious and cost-effective in the context of highly structured randomized trials may not be effective or cost-effective once they are made available in practice, under less controlled conditions [2].

Complexity can be thought of as a situation that goes beyond a single patient interacting with a single provider. Rather, multiple patients may interact with multiple providers and with each other in a way that can impact relevant patient and health system outcomes, such as measures of health, resource use, and user experience. With some complex interventions, the outcomes themselves can further influence the behaviour of patients and providers. We can illustrate degrees of complexity by examples that show this interaction (Figure 1). For example, a patient/physician shared decision to prescribe a drug to lower high blood pressure with the intent of avoiding future illness is an example of a simple intervention. Another example is use of insulin to avoid future complications from diabetes.



#### Figure 1: Illustration of simple and complex interventions







Figure 1b: Complex intervention

As further patient/physician/outcome interactions occur, the intervention can be said to be increasingly complex. Truly complex interventions influence or attempt to manage the interaction and information that in turn affects outcomes. For example, a decision to intervene with blood pressure medication may be influenced by further interventions such as public health disease





surveillance and education and awareness programs, along with the interaction the patient has had with other patients at high risk or hospitalized with complications such as heart disease and stroke.

In the second example, outcomes from the decision to use insulin may be optimized by a complex intervention such as case management or facilitated relay of information regarding blood sugar control, dosage and adherence to physicians or patients through an e-health intervention [3]. This complex intervention may involve the use of nurses or pharmacists to educate patients about self-monitoring and insulin dosage adjustment. It may also involve the use of a patient self-management portal or SMS-based technology to facilitate communication. The ultimate health outcomes are a product of the many interactions between patients, providers and other system-wide components.

Several recent analyses have highlighted the importance of the system-wide context in which the intervention is delivered – often complex itself [4,5]. They suggest that the effectiveness of a complex intervention may be very sensitive to where or how it is delivered and adequately measuring and accounting for confounders and influencers during its evaluation has heightened importance. Other commentaries have discussed difficulties in applying standard methods of economic evaluation as many complex interventions may produce benefits beyond health gain [6,7].

There are a number of examples of health interventions that might be viewed as complex. Although the following avenues of investigation in health services and policy research are not distinct categories, these "types" of interventions are more likely to be considered complex and are listed to provide illustrative examples.

#### Integrated care interventions

Integrated care has been defined as a "coherent set of methods and models on the funding, and the administrative-, organizational-, service delivery-, and clinical levels designed to create connectivity, alignment and collaboration within and between the cure and care sectors.".[8] It also has other definitions,[8] but in principle is concerned with coordinating and joining disparate service delivery organizations within health systems to improve the patient experience through better continuity of care. Integrated care may involve different types of integration including integration of funding, administration, organization of services, and care delivery [9,10]. An important type of integrated care intervention involves the coordination of primary care services or other community-based interventions for chronic disease management (discussed below). Other recent examples of integrated care initiatives in Canada include:

- In Quebec, local community centres, acute hospitals (CHSGS, Centres hospitaliers de soins généraux et spécialisés) and long-term hospitals were merged into 95 health and social services centres (CSSS, Centres de santé et de services sociaux). Four university-based health-care networks (RUIS, réseaux universitaires intégrés de services) were created to coordinate training and research, and provides coverage for 18 regional health authorities.
- In Ontario, 14 Local Health Integration Networks were created in 2006 to provide systemwide coordination and integration of health and social services. These networks have authority over local planning, funding, community engagement and facilitating integration within their region [11].
- Alberta implemented and rigorously evaluated a fully integrated care model with multidisciplinary teams for hip and knee replacement [12].





#### Community-based and primary care interventions

The Canadian Institutes of Health research (CIHR) Institute for Health Services and Policy Research (IHSPR) definecommunity-based and primary care interventions as a broad range of primary prevention (including public health) and primary care services outside of community hospitals or tertiary care facilities, including health promotion and disease prevention; the diagnosis, treatment, and management of chronic and episodic illness; rehabilitation support; and end of life care [13]. These interventions are based on integration of hospital-based, community and primary care services and with a community orientation, typically through direct and education of the general population or providers. They are also distinct from policy interventions and do not rely on changes in finance, laws or regulations regarding the organization and delivery of care. Examples of these types of interventions in Canada include:

- A collaborative, multi-pronged, community-based health promotion and prevention programme targeted at older adults and intended to reduce cardiovascular morbidity across 39 mid-sized communities in Ontario [14].
- The virtual ward, a multidisciplinary hospital-based team to optimize medical and social care residing in patients' homes for those at high-risk of re-admission after discharge from hospital (http://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT01108172).
- In Quebec, the CO-ordination Personnes Agées (COPA) model provided integrated primary care with intensive case management for community-dwelling, very frail elderly patients [15].

#### Guideline and clinical pathway implementation

The use of evidence syntheses to inform clinical practice has led to the development of clinical practice guidelines (CPGs) and clinical pathways (CPs) as a means to make research regarding effective and cost-effective interventions more accessible for care providers. Effective use of these tools requires implementation (i.e., knowledge translation) strategies to facilitate changes in organization and practice behavior. Effective implementation strategies are often complex, providing multiple avenues and overlapping or repetitive approaches to affect behavioural change. Some notable examples include:

- The Canadian Hypertension Education Program (CHEP) creates clinical practice guidelines along with educational materials, manuscripts, clinical summaries, handouts, slide sets, education kits, posters, advertisements, pocket cards, workshops, and education of opinion leaders [16].
- Guideline recommendations for the prevention, diagnosis, and treatment of ventilatorassociated pneumonia [17,18] were implemented across Canadian centres using a multifaceted intervention (education, reminders, local opinion leaders, and implementation teams) directed toward the entire multidisciplinary ICU team [19].
- In British Columbia, the effect of the periodic delivery of evidence-based letters on prescribing patterns was assessed [20].

#### Population and public health interventions

Population health interventions have been defined as "...policy and program interventions that operate within or outside the health sector and have the potential to impact health at the population level." Public health interventions are usually characterized as population- or community-oriented





programs intended to promote, protect or prevent poor health. They are often considered as different from health service or clinical interventions, which are intended to prevent or treat illness in individuals. However, they must often work closely with primary care services as a means to providing early intervention.

Population and public health interventions can be multifaceted and require the use of multidisciplinary teams or coordination across organizations that go beyond the health system. They may also require more extensive mass communication and educational strategies and be iteratively developed. The Federal and provincial governments largely share the responsibility for developing and implementing public health programs, although non-governmental programs do exist. The number of individual programs and services are almost too numerous to mention, however public health programs often provide one or more of the following services: developing standards; surveillance; developing and enforcing laws/regulations; providing direct services to individuals, such as immunization and counseling; providing direct services to populations such as walkable areas, road construction and other prevention-related items; providing incentives/grants, including taxes or fines for risky behaviour; and providing information/education. Examples of public health interventions include:

- Multiple strategies to reduce harm from tobacco use in youth including surveillance, increasing taxes [21], mass education, introducing legislation regarding advertising and where smoking is permissible, and youth engagement [22].
- A multi-program approach to improving health outcomes associated with substance abuse issues and the mental wellness of First Nations and Inuit that includes training of caregivers and providing community-based services leveraging public health programs such as "building healthy communities" [23].

#### Tele-health and e-health interventions

Communications and decision-support media are now being introduced as a means to change the nature of interactions between patients and providers. E-health is a broad term that encompasses the use of digital, telecommunications, and other information technology as a means to improve decision-making, learning, knowledge management, or any number of activities related to health care. Telehealth can be considered a subset of these activities and refers to the delivery of health care facilitated by telecommunications technology. Communication can be further classified as synchronous or asynchronous and may be between patients, patients and providers, or between providers. As e-health is a modality, it may serve as the basis of any number of complex interventions including integrated care, primary care, and public health interventions. Some examples are:

- The use of an online diabetes management portal to promote self-management in patients with diabetes [24].
- The use of home telemonitoring in patients with diabetes and uncontrolled systolic hypertension [25].
- A mobile phone-based system to facilitate management of patients with heart failure [26].





### Economic Evaluation and Its Use in Decision-making

Economic evaluations of health interventions have been defined as "the comparative analysis of alternative courses of action in terms of both their costs and their consequences" [27]. All economic evaluations assess costs, but approaches to measuring and valuing the consequences of health interventions differ (see Box 1). Economic evaluations often rely on a combination of mathematical modeling and study information when studies that support the underlying estimates of effectiveness lack key pieces of information.

Economic evaluations are important because "resources - people, time, facilities, equipment and knowledge- are scarce" [27]. They allow those charged with managing resources to either anticipate the potential impact or measure the real impact of any change to the delivery of health care. In the context of health research, they can aid researchers in demonstrating the potential or real economic impact on the health system of a new intervention that can in turn promote its uptake and adoption. For example, one review of telemedicine applications suggested "The absence of a cohesive body of rigorous economic evaluation studies is a key obstacle to the widespread adoption, proliferation, and funding of telemedicine programs" [28].

However, the need to make decisions based on economic evaluations may extend beyond the health system. The effects of public health interventions, for example, may extend into the justice and education systems and require different forms of analysis used in those sectors (e.g., such as costbenefit analysis). Similarly, economic evaluations may be useful for private sector developers of technology, who must make research and development decisions based on an assumed return on investment [30]. Health system researchers may have to consider the various private and public sector actors that will use an economic evaluation for future decision-making.





#### Box 1: Forms of economic evaluation

Specific forms of analysis reflect different approaches to evaluating the consequences of health interventions.

- Cost-consequences analyses (CCA) examine costs and consequences, without attempting to isolate a single consequence or aggregate consequences into a single measure.
- Cost minimization analysis (CMA) compare costs only as the consequences are assumed to be equal.
- Cost-effectiveness analysis (CEA) describes consequences in natural units, such as clinical cases detected, or life-years (LYs) gained. A variant of CEA, called cost-utility analysis (CUA) measures consequences in terms of preference-based measures of health, such as disabilityadjusted life years (DALYs) or quality-adjusted life-years (QALYs).
- Cost-benefit analysis (CBA) describes consequences in monetary units [27].

Although analysts may choose to use one or more forms of these analyses in their study, they should be aware that each form of analysis might have unique advantages or disadvantages for decision-making. The terms "cost-effectiveness", "cost-benefit" "economic evaluation" are often used interchangeably and, therefore, the term "economic evaluation" is preferred to avoid confusion.

#### Adapted from [27] and [29]

Economic evaluation has gained more widespread acceptance for decisions regarding new pharmaceuticals and, to a lesser extent, new medical devices and diagnostics [31]. However, the same approach to economic evaluation can be applied to any health intervention, including prevention and promotion programs (such as vaccination and screening), organization of care, rehabilitation, and fiscal policy. Economic evaluation is a principle tool in the world of health technology assessment (HTA), where technology is broadly defined:

"The application of scientific or other organized knowledge – including any tool, technique, product, process, method, organization, or system – to practical tasks. In health care, technology includes drugs; diagnostics, indicators and reagents; devices, equipment and supplies; medical and surgical procedures; support systems; and organizational and managerial systems used in prevention, screening, diagnosis, treatment and rehabilitation." [32]

In Canada, national standards exist for the economic evaluation of health technologies, which can be applied to any complex intervention. They have been developed and maintained by the Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health [33]. The guidance is intended to promote consistent evaluation of technology and avoid situations where arbitrary analytic choices can lead to variable findings and analyses that are less useful for decision-making. Consistency is facilitated through the use of a "reference case" analysis -a set of standard approaches that all analysts are required to use (see Box 2). Analysts will then be free to conduct additional analysis according to the decision problem being evaluated. Although this discussion paper refers to the current CADTH guidance (3<sup>rd</sup> edition), readers should be aware that a new 4<sup>th</sup> edition of the guideline is now in development. Canada's Treasury board has also developed a generic guidance for the evaluation of regulatory proposals that include health outcomes which may provide supplementary insight [34]. Also





available are guidance for more specific health products including oncology therapies [35] and internationally for vaccines [36].





#### Box 2: Guidance for the economic evaluation of health technologies: Canada

See - http://www.cadth.ca/media/pdf/186\_EconomicGuidelines\_e.pdf

Current guidance for the economic evaluation of health technologies (interventions) is divided into individual categories (called statements) that address various analytic judgments required to conduct rigorous evaluation. These include:

Statement	Description	
Study Question	How best to define questions relevant for decision-making	
Types of Evaluation	How best to choose the form of analysis, emphasizing the use of cost-utility analysis unless inappropriate	
Target Population	Specifying the population affected by the decision and emphasizing analysis of sub-populations if appropriate	
Comparators	What the intervention should be compared to and how this should be characterized	
Perspective	What costs should be captured, with health system costs required in the reference case	
Effectiveness	How health consequences should be estimated, justifying why a single study is appropriate and modifying for real world factors	
Time Horizon	Analysts should use a time horizon that captures all relevant costs and consequences	
Modelling	Appropriate approaches to modeling based on the nature of the decision	
Valuing Outcomes	How outcomes should be valued, particularly for preference-based measures	
Resource us and costs	How resources should be identified, estimated and valued	
Discounting	Analysts should apply a 5% annual rate of discounting for both health outcomes and costs beyond a year and 0-3% in sensitivity analyses	
Variability and uncertainty	How analysts should address both variability and uncertainty of findings	
Equity	Equity assumptions used in analysis should be stated – results should be non-weighted for equity in reference case	
Generalizability	Analyses that address issues of transferability should be conducted	
Adapted from [33]		





International standards also exist and are intended to promote rigorous approaches to economic evaluation. The International Society for Pharmacoeconomics and Outcomes Research (ISPOR) as well as Society for Medical Decision Making (SMDM) have developed and promoted guidance for analysts covering several areas including approaches to estimating costs [37–42], transferring evaluations across jurisdictions [43], and mathematical modeling [44–50,55] (see Box 3). Additionally, checklists have been developed to examine the quality of methods [51] and reporting [29] of these analyses.

#### Box 3: International standards and guidance for conducting economic evaluation

ISPOR Task Force Reports - http://www.ispor.org/taskforces/tfindex.asp

#### SMDM Task Force Reports - http://mdm.sagepub.com/content/32/5.toc

#### **Estimating Costs**

Good research practices for measuring drug costs in cost effectiveness analyses: issues and recommendations Task Force Reports I-VI [37–42]: These reports cover various aspects of identification, measuring and valuing resources used and across different contexts of decision making.

#### Transferability of Evaluations

**Transferability of economic evaluations across jurisdictions: ISPOR Good Research Practices Task Force report [43]:** Good research practices for dealing with aspects of transferability, including strategies based on the analysis of individual patient data and based on decision-analytic modeling.

#### Modeling

**ISPOR-SMDM Modeling Good Research Practices Task Force Reports 1-7** [44–50]: Recommendations as to good modeling practices including best approaches for conceptualizing and deciding on model type; best practices in state transition, discrete event, and dynamic transmission modeling; best approaches for estimating model parameters, dealing with uncertainty, validating models and dealing with model transparency.

#### **Reporting Quality Checklist**

**Consolidated Health Economic Evaluation Reporting Standards (CHEERS)-Explanation and Elaboration [29]:** A Report of the ISPOR Health Economic Evaluation Publication Guidelines Good Reporting Practices Task Force: Best approaches to reporting for purposes of journal publication.

#### Methodological Quality Checklists

**Best Practices for Conducting Economic Evaluations in Health Care [51]:** A Systematic Review of Quality Assessment Tools: Agency for Health Research and Quality synthesis report about available checklists including the more commonly used Drummond/BMJ[52], Quality of Health Economic Studies (QHES)[53] and Consensus on Health Economic Criteria (CHEC)[54] checklists.

### PURPOSE OF DISCUSSION PAPER

The purpose of this discussion paper is to consider the potential issues that arise when existing guidelines for economic evaluations are used to evaluate complex health system interventions. The issues raised in this paper will be particularly relevant to current and future CIHR-IHSPR priorities for research investment; for instance, in the areas of community-based primary healthcare and e-health innovation for high system users. Likewise, there may be relevance for investigators





working in this area, other funders of research, as well as knowledge users aiming for a deeper understanding of these issues and value of the results of such analyses.

The intent of this report is not to create guidelines for those performing economic evaluation of complex interventions but to provide an exploration of the issues that analysts might encounter when attempting to apply current guidance. It is also intended to help health system and policy researchers understand some of the fundamentals of economic evaluation and its application. By elaborating on issues not addressed by existing guidelines in regards to complex interventions, the intent is to reduce variation in methods of economic evaluation and ultimately to improve the health care decisions they are intended to inform.

Although there is a recognized need for new methods in this area and some are suggested at the end of each of the illustrative examples [56], developing and testing new methods is beyond the scope of this paper. Similarly, several authors have promoted the need for entirely new approaches to the economic evaluation of these interventions [57,58]. This paper is not intended to refute these proposals, However, in the absence of a widely accepted alternative approach, it does rely on current and conventional methods for the economic evaluation of health programs. In some cases, we will provide specific recommendations or guidance for what to do in specific circumstances, however much of this document is intended to identify and discuss issues so that analysts can make informed decisions about the judgments they apply and assumptions they use when conducting economic evaluations.

Economic evaluation is intended to link costs with consequences relevant for decision-making. Conducting an economic evaluation does not remove the underlying challenges of *evaluating the consequences of any complex intervention* including difficulties in *attribution of cause and effect and using study designs within natural settings that allow for adequate measurement and valuation*. Those conducting economic evaluation therefore have a common challenge with those tasked with a clinical evaluation of the complex intervention. Economic evaluation may exacerbate some of the challenges with data and information as more data (on resource use) and analysis (such as extrapolation of short-term outcomes) may be required. Economic evaluations often rely on a combination of mathematical modeling and study information when studies that support the underlying estimates of effectiveness lack key pieces of information.

This paper, therefore, highlights additional issues encountered by conducting economic evaluation and does not attempt to tackle some of the more fundamental issues that may be encountered when evaluating complex interventions in general. The common issues between evaluation and economic evaluation should also highlight the need and importance of designing protocols for evaluation in collaboration between those conducting evaluation and economic evaluation.

## How TO USE THIS DOCUMENT

Readers of this document should at first familiarize themselves with existing CADTH guidance for the economic evaluation of health technologies [33]. The next section will elaborate on some of the issues that may be encountered when using this guidance for the economic evaluation of complex interventions in general. More specific illustrative examples are given in further sections in the areas of (1) Integrated care or system interventions; (2) Community-based primary care interventions; (3) Guideline implementation interventions; (4) Public health interventions; and (5) Telehealth and e-health interventions.





## **Issues for the Economic Evaluation of Complex Interventions**

#### **General issues**

Complex interventions may introduce some particular issues across different fields of inquiry (e.g., e-health or public health) that require special consideration. These include:

- Type of evaluation and valuing outcomes: Not all complex interventions are intended to improve length and health-related quality of life and there may be multiple outcomes relevant to decision-making. Therefore, although conducting cost-utility analysis may still be feasible in the reference case, other forms of analysis may be useful to inform decisions. For comparability, analysts should still be encouraged to use cost-utility analysis whenever possible and as per current guidelines.
- 2) **Comparators:** Analysts face a challenge of deciding whether they are comparing (i) a complex intervention to the lack of the intervention; (ii) various components of the intervention to each other, (iii) sequence in which components are introduced, or (iv) one or all of these. It may be a particular challenge for analysts to identify *a priori* the full set of relevant simple and complex interventions being compared. In the reference case, analysts should be encouraged to compare the complex intervention with a counterfactual condition of no complex intervention. Analysts should then consider additional analysis that compares the economic impact of one or more of the individual component parts of the complex intervention if this information is available. The complex intervention must also be clearly defined so as to allow for reproducibility by other investigators and interpretation by decision-makers [59].
- 3) **Perspective:** Current guidelines suggest in the reference case, the publicly funded health system should be the perspective used; that is, analysts should examine costs to the publicly funded health system first and use an alternate perspective only if it appears relevant [33]. As complex interventions may often impact costs outside of the health system, analysts should be prepared to conduct secondary analyses using different perspectives to capture additional relevant costs.
- 4) **Effectiveness:** Current guidelines suggest using a systematic review to estimate the magnitude of effectiveness and adjust for "real-world" factors. However, outcomes from complex interventions may be more sensitive to the context in which they are delivered than is seen with simple interventions [60,61]. Analysts may also have to rely on non-randomized studies of effectiveness to a greater extent, which creates challenges when trying to combine studies (e.g., through meta-analysis), to create overall estimates of effectiveness. Analysts should pay particular attention to recent guidance that attempts to address challenges with estimating effectiveness from complex interventions through the use of systematic reviews [62].
- 5) **Resource use and costs:** It may be more difficult to measure the resource levels (e.g., such as human resource requirements or consumables) associated with the individual components of a complex intervention. Investigators may need to be prepared to develop original cost algorithms if they are non-existent. They must also consider the additional study size or need for record linkage that may be required to analyze the economic impact of complex interventions.





6) Modeling – Conventional approaches to economic modeling are generally used for simple interventions with single decision problems that exist within a broader continuum of care. To better understand the influence of the various components of a complex intervention, mathematical models that incorporate a broader spectrum of care pathways may be required. One such approach has been termed "whole disease modeling" and is based on using discrete event simulation models that can capture both interventions and the context (processes, pathways and sequence) in which they are delivered [63–65].

Some of these same issues have been described in the UK Medical Research Council (MRC) guidance for the development, evaluation and implementation of complex interventions to improve health [1]. The authors highlight that in addition to conventional problems with the evaluation of any health intervention, additional problems can be encountered with complex interventions that "relate to the difficulty of standardising the design and delivery of the interventions, their sensitivity to features of the local context, the organisational and logistical difficulty of applying experimental methods to service or policy change, and the length and complexity of the causal chains linking intervention with outcome." The MRC guidance also cites specific issues of comparators, clearly defining the intervention and primary outcome, resource use and perspective as primary issues, and borrowing from previous challenges identified with economic evaluation in the field of social welfare [66].

#### Other issues

There may be other issues worth considering that are peripheral to these main challenges. Some issues associated with the conduct of economic evaluation of complex interventions have been identified through previous reviews and include: (1) study questions (i.e., decision problems) not adequately defined [67]; (2) analysts using forms of analysis that do not allow for comparability across programs (e.g., using cost-consequences analyses instead of cost-utility analyses) [68]; (3) study populations may be ill-defined [69]; (4) outcomes may be inappropriately valued, for example using patient satisfaction [68,70]; and (5) discounting may be inappropriately conducted [71]. Importantly, although these issues have been empirically shown to be associated with the conduct and reporting of economic evaluation for complex interventions, they are not necessarily caused by the complexity of the intervention. They could simply reflect other factors, such as lack of training and awareness of use of appropriate methods by investigators in their respective fields.

#### Elaboration of issues with examples

#### Example 1: Integrated delivery systems or networks

Joint replacement is a cost-effective treatment for severe osteoarthritis in the hip and knee [72]. To address long waiting periods and variability in service access and outcomes the Alberta Orthopaedic Society began with a comprehensive analysis of hip and knee replacement services, followed by the design of a new model of care to increase efficiency in the public health system.

Based on results from the economic evaluation as well as other quality metrics, Alberta Health encouraged the provincial implementation of this new model of care. The Alberta Bone and Joint Health Institute was asked to help the Health Regions in Alberta translate what was learned in the pilot study to routine practice. Knowledge translation was a critical feature of the pilot project and remains central to the ongoing efforts to implement the new path of care. This has led to new organizational arrangements and broad awareness by practicing clinicians. Most of the orthopedic





surgeons in Alberta who do joint replacement surgery have adopted the new path of care in their practices.

One of the issues related to conducting an economic evaluation of this new program is:

1) Effectiveness and Valuing Outcomes: Determining the relative effectiveness of the new care pathway: A partnership of surgeons, affiliated healthcare providers and decision support researchers designed and implemented a new evidence-informed clinical pathway for patients requiring total hip or knee replacement and compared the clinical outcomes of that approach to standard care using a randomized controlled trial. Quality-of-care outcomes were measured using a defined measurement framework adapted from the Institute of Medicine by the Alberta Health Care Quality Council [73]. Although some of these outcomes reflected patient health outcomes (such as 'effectiveness' and 'safety') that could be directly applied to economic evaluation, other, outcomes reflected broader system outcomes (such as accessibility). Once a cost-utility analysis is conducted, analysts can consider reporting these additional outcomes using a secondary cost-consequence analysis approach.

*Suggestions for moving forward:* This evaluation highlights the importance of outcomes that may be associated with complex interventions that are not accounted for in standard health-preference-based measures and reflect wider social values. Further opportunities for advancing methods in this area may relate to using enhanced measures of benefit that incorporate these metrics, such as is currently being explored with approaches such as MCDA or equity-weighted QALYs [6,74].

# Example 2 – Community-based interventions - selection of the optimal chronic disease management strategy within Alberta's primary care networks

The Alberta Primary Care Networks (PCNs) are an example of a primary care model in which groups of family practices hold a budget to supplement care for their patients outside the usual feefor-service model [75]. Nearly 80% of eligible family physicians in Alberta currently participate in a PCN. Additional funding of \$62 per enrolled patient per year is provided to PCNs to support activities which fall outside the typical physician-based fee-for-service model but are in accordance with specified objectives: improving access to primary care; improving coordination of care; and increasing the emphasis on health promotion and chronic disease management. Consequently, a hypothetical group of 20 family doctors, each caring for an average of 1200 rostered patients, will be allocated nearly \$1.5 million in additional funds annually [76].

PCNs must decide how to allocate resources to best meet the needs of their patients, considering their priorities and those of the provincial health ministry. While PCNs have several priorities, they will likely need to consider the type of chronic disease management programs to provide to optimize care for patients with chronic diseases such as diabetes or cardiovascular disease. Previous work showed PCNs have had a small and variable impact on the care and outcomes of patients with diabetes [75], and that PCNs studied funded a wide variety of different chronic disease management programs, presumably based on their impression of effectiveness, what was feasible to implement given the availability of allied health personnel locally, and what other health system chronic disease management programs were available to patients in that geographic area.

Given that additional primary care networks are being established, and expanded, to inform subsequent decisions regarding choice of chronic disease management strategies, consideration was given to conducting an economic evaluation to determine the cost-effectiveness of the various chronic disease management strategies available, each of which varies by relative effectiveness [3],





and by resource intensity [76] (Figure 2). Since one of the important objectives for a PCN is to maximize the health gains for their patient population using a fixed sum of money, conducting a systematic comparison of the relative costs and health effects of candidate programs seems highly relevant. To date, this work has not been completed, largely due to some of the specific issues associated with conducting economic evaluation of these complex interventions:

Figure 2: Resource intensity of chronic disease management strategies (Source: McBrier	۱
[77] and Tricco [3])	

	Electronic Medical Record-Related Interventions	Education-Related Interventions	Personnel-Based Interventions
Resource Intensity	Electronic Medical Record	Clinician Education	Team Changes
	Patient Reminders	Patient Education	Case Management
	Clinician Reminders	Promotion of Self- Management	
	Audit and Feedback		
	Facilitated Relay of Patient Data		
	Resource Intensity	ſ	

- 1) Target population and variability: When understanding the effectiveness of a chronic disease management strategy, it's important to consider the patient population within which was studied. A previous review examining the effectiveness of these strategies [3] was conducted in patients with diabetes. However, it's likely that chronic disease management strategies established by primary care networks will be used by other types of patients with chronic diseases. The effectiveness of the different interventions may differ across patient populations, and this is a challenge that requires consideration during an economic evaluation. Acknowledging this, given that the interventions generally seek to optimize lifestyle management, self-management strategies, and use of appropriate medications, it's equally possible that the interventions may have similar effects in different chronic diseases. Investigators will need to consider whether the effectiveness and cost-effectiveness is likely to vary across the types of patients in whom the intervention may be used in practice.
- 2) Effectiveness and comparators: Notwithstanding the fact that the relative effectiveness of nearly a dozen different interventions, some of which are complementary, and some of which are alternatives, would be challenging to assess, there are additional complexities to consider. Most studies that have assessed the effectiveness of these interventions have examined the impact of combinations of different types of interventions such as patient education, provider education, case management, audit and feedback, facilitated relay of information and others [3]. Systematic reviewers acknowledged difficulties in categorizing the strategies into consistent categories and often-relevant details on the intervention itself were left out, making it challenging for someone to replicate the intervention [3]. The different combinations of interventions also raises methodological issues about how best to





assess the impact of each individual strategy, as well as what might be the optimal combinations of interventions [62]. Innovative methodological approaches are being assessed to quantify the individual impact of the interventions, which may overcome this difficulty [78].

**Suggestions for moving forward:** Acknowledging the challenges of conducting an economic evaluation of all possible chronic disease management strategies across the range of patient populations that they might be used in, PCN leaders must still make and justify their decisions regarding use of chronic disease management strategies, and consideration of the costs and relative effectiveness of the interventions remains important. In the short term, discussions with stakeholders from primary care networks to identify the most feasible interventions that could be implemented would limit the list of interventions to be assessed. Although future implementation of CDM programs could be supported by systematic reviews of available clinical data and a full economic evaluation, analysts should focus on strategies to get this information in a timely fashion to those who are going to make decisions.

# Example 3 - Cost-effectiveness of strategies for promoting the uptake and implementation of clinical guidance and other health interventions

This section discusses the use of cost-effectiveness analysis in making decisions about the allocation and efficiency of resources to implementation strategies, which are intended to improve care by inducing lower-level decision makers or actors (including health professionals and patients) to change their behaviors and practices. These complex interventions are being increasingly considered by policy-level decision-makers for improving health care quality and outcomes.

One specific example is considered here: the use of audit & feedback (A&F) to Dutch primary care physicians to enhance intensive control of blood glucose in patients with type 2 diabetes [79]. This intervention is intended to improve control of blood glucose through more frequent medical check-ups and earlier intervention with blood-glucose lowering medication. Although promoted in a local clinical practice guideline, the dissemination of this guideline alone appeared insufficient to induce Dutch primary care physicians to change their behaviors and practice: only 64% of patients with type 2 diabetes received intensive glycemic control after the guideline was distributed. This despite that intensifying treatment to control blood glucose levels in type 2 diabetes is of proven clinical benefit—and these benefits have been shown to justify the costs.

An A&F intervention requires systematic monitoring of clinical performance and the provision of feedback to primary care physicians - although this can be expected to improve quality of care, it requires a share of the limited resources available for improvements in health care to implement— whether within a particular health care organization or health insurer, or within a larger health system such as a nation.

Committing resources to an A&F implementation strategy implies a trade-off against the benefits expected from changes in the uptake and coordination of care due to implementation efforts and the net return derivable from alternative uses of these resources. Thus, it is imperative that decisions about the allocation and efficiency of implementation strategies are informed by a type of analysis that assesses the added improvement in health outcomes relative to cost. This can be accomplished through conducting a cost-effectiveness analysis. Previous reviews in this area have suggested a hybrid approach that uses evaluations of behaviour change coupled with modeling of component effectiveness might be most practical in this area [80–82].





The next section sets out the reasons why implementation strategies such as A&F can be viewed as complex interventions to improve health care; the following section illustrates how an economic evaluation of A&F in the management of type 2 diabetes in primary care may be approached. This section concludes with general directions for the advancement of methods for assessing the allocation and efficiency of resources to implementation strategies.

#### Audit & Feedback as a Complex Intervention

Audit & feedback can be considered complex in many different ways, two of which are especially relevant to its evaluation:

#### (1) Multiplicity and Interdependence of Components of Audit & Feedback

When evaluating the efficiency of allocating resources from implementation strategies such as A&F, analysts cannot take the simplistic viewpoint that the intervention is independent of the underlying choice of intervention and aspects of care. This is because the outcome from the implementation strategy is actually a function of (a) the differences in efficiency between medical interventions for implementation and (b) the degree to which health professionals and patients consider or perceive the time and other resources they are to invest in implementation activities (e.g., taking part in clinical audits and using feedback to enhance performance) as worthwhile. Additionally, decisions to commit resources to implementation and coordination of care are usually only considered if and only if a decision maker considers or perceives current practice(s) as suboptimal. So, the overall efficiency of implementation strategies like those of other complex interventions in health is a function of multiple components that act both independently and interdependently and can lead to a wide variation in findings.

#### (2) Continuous Development of Audit & Feedback

Another common assumption in economic evaluation is that any given intervention is static – its performance is consistent and does not change after a decision to adopt it. Decision-makers are therefore asked to make a binary decision as to whether an intervention is worthwhile given the information on outcomes and costs available.

Like many complex interventions, A&F may lead to variable outcomes that change or are modified depending on how clinical performance in diabetes type 2 is audited and in how primary care physicians are provided with feedback over several cycles. Information or knowledge about how A&F performs is used in customizing any given strategy for implementation to maximize quality improvement and efficiency—with many actors having influence on the modifications and outcomes.

## Economic evaluation of the use of Audit & Feedback to primary care providers to enhance intensive control of blood glucose in patients with type 2 diabetes

An economic evaluation of A&F suggested that—from a health system perspective—implementing this strategy for changing diabetes practice represents an efficient allocation of resources for health care improvement. With an 18% increase in type 2 diabetic patients receiving intensive glycemic control at an expected expense of €100 per patient annually, A&F was expected to lead to a 0.16 QALY-increase at an added cost to the system of €4232 as compared with "usual care". The incremental cost-effectiveness ratio for A&F, €25,640 per QALY, is under the threshold value of €30,000 per QALY decision makers commonly use in the UK to consider an intervention in the UK (and the Netherlands) National Health System as cost-effective [83].





1) **Variability and uncertainty:** Whether actually implementing an A&F program is efficient is an open question, however. Standard approaches to economic evaluation usually consider A&F in isolation and provide an estimate of uncertainty surrounding the ICER that only reflects incomplete information or sampling error from research inputs. This includes uncertainty related to estimates (or predictions) of change in intensive glycemic control by primary care physicians due to feedback, uncertainty as to the QALY gains by increased control of blood glucose in type 2 diabetic patients who did not receive such treatment prior, and uncertainty about the expenditures on A&F. But if we view A&F as a complex intervention whose efficiency cannot be independent of other choices or aspects in care, uncertainty in estimates of cost-effectiveness should also reflect other important aspects including the change in primary care physicians' practices in the treatment of type 2 diabetes that may go beyond intensive glycemic control and other medical practices and the fact that the approach to delivering A&F may vary during the process of its implementation. Properly informing decisions from economic evaluation will require a broader view and consideration of these potential sources of uncertainty. This will avoid situations where economic evaluations produced to inform decisions are unhelpful for improving diabetes care.

#### Suggestions for Moving Forward

The challenges of making economic evaluation of A&F useful for decision-making suggest three directions for the advancement of methods:

#### Valuing outcomes

*Implementing a quantitative approach to priority setting and design of complex interventions through value-of-implementation analysis:* Before investing in an A&F implementation strategy or other mechanism to improve the uptake and coordination of proven medical interventions, it seems imperative that a decision maker has some notion of the returns in benefits expected. This can be estimated through an analysis of the value-of-implementation [84,85]. Not only can value-of-implementation analysis help identify problems of implementation and coordination as priorities for improvement, but this type of analysis can aid in the efficient design of complex interventions in priority areas. Once a decision is made to implement the strategy, a decision-maker may still choose to collect appropriate data inputs and re-evaluate the intervention. Conducting value-of-implementation analysis requires: (1) some estimate (or prediction) of the change in implementation and coordination of care expected from implementation strategies, and (2) some estimate (or valuation) of the monetary value of added improvement in health outcomes.

#### **Comparators**

Informing the choices of components of complex interventions according to integral analysis of outcomes: decisionmakers face two sets of choices: 1) decisions about medical interventions (the choice of items, services, or procedures to use in preventing, diagnosing or treating particular diseases or conditions, that is); and 2) decisions about implementation strategies and other mechanisms of promoting the uptake and coordination of care if this is considered or perceived to be necessary. Two approaches to the analysis of such conceptually distinct but related decisions can be adopted: sequential analysis and integral analysis.

In a sequential approach, decisions about mechanisms for promoting the uptake and coordination of care follow on the decisions about medical interventions. The efficiency of resource allocation is evaluated separately for each addition or substitution to the existing mix of interventions—and the





choices of intervention components are made in a serial, one-at-a-time fashion. Such a sequential approach is in line with the continuous, incremental process to health care improvement decision makers commonly employ—and was implicit in evaluating the use of A&F in Dutch primary care.

An integral approach implies choices of components of a complex intervention to improve health care (both medical interventions and the mechanisms to enhance implementation and coordination of care) are made simultaneously—by comparing the overall efficiency in resource allocation for all possible configurations of components for intervention, now and in the future. Treatment alternatives and other interventions for patient management can often be expected to differ both in their efficiency as well as in their cost of implementation—that is, the expenses on time and other resources to make sure that the medical intervention of choice gets implemented into practice and that patients receive coordinated care. Under these conditions, an integral approach to economic evaluation offers decision-makers advantages over sequential analysis: more efficient allocation of resources and more comprehensive assessment of uncertainty in decision-making [86]. However, many questions remain as to how to incorporate integral analysis effectively into the process of evaluating and making choices about the allocation of resource to interventions more complex than those usually considered for improving health care. Perhaps the most obviously important question is how to develop meaningful priors concerning the level of implementation of medical interventions and the level of care coordination-without any investment in effort to change these-and meaningful priors concerning the costs of implementation strategies or other mechanisms to realize desired change in uptake and coordination of care.

#### Reporting

Reporting measures of efficiency of complex interventions that incorporate differences in perspectives and differences in levels of decision making: Whether spending on implementation and coordination as part of a complex intervention to improve health care achieves an allocation of resources more efficiently than usual care depends critically on the degree to which expenditures are perceived by the actors other than the decision makers at policy-level (including health professionals and patients) forming part of such intervention as good value for the money. Different actors at different decision-making levels will have different perspectives on cost-effectiveness; they will each value the returns expected from the (perceived) resources (including time) they are to invest for the complex intervention to improve care and outcomes in a different fashion.

The ratio of the expected overall cost to expected overall benefit, as traditional CEAs commonly report, sums up all information relevant for a decision maker at policy-level to determine whether a complex intervention leads to more efficient use of health care resources in the aggregate. But reporting of aggregate ratios alone need not meet the needs for information by all the decision-makers and actors that are needed to deliver the various components of the intervention. The question is how to report these perspectives so that this is most informative and most influential in the processes of making decisions about the efficient allocation of health care resources. Analysts might need to consider disaggregating information about the efficiency in a complex implementation intervention by the component interventions and across actors at different decision-making levels, thereby accounting for potential differences in information needs and perspectives on cost-effectiveness.





#### Example 4 – Public health interventions

Numerous reviews and published opinions have highlighted the challenges of conducting economic evaluation for public health interventions [87–93]. A recent Canadian review of the literature on the intersection of the fields of health economics (focusing mainly on economic evaluation) and public health was conducted to inform broader discussion by the CIHR Institute of Population and Public Health and other Public Health partners, including the National Collaborating Centres for Public Health (NCCPH), the Canadian Population Health Initiative of the Canadian Institute for Health Information (CPHI-CIHI) and the Public Health Agency of Canada (PHAC) [88]. The subsequent proceedings of the workshop report stated:

"Most public health professionals are not trained in economics and most economists are not familiar with the field of public health. Public health researchers need to broaden their understanding of the discipline of economics so that dialogue is more productive and helps enlist the efforts of economists in PPH work. To this end, we must understand how to incorporate the field of Economics into research beyond studies in 'health economics' or specialized sub-areas, like 'economic evaluation.""[94]

Population and public health interventions are directed at communities or individuals and communities simultaneously and through a number of interacting components, such as education, behavioral interventions, screening, and health technologies (like a vaccine, laboratory test, or medicine). They are often intended to generate costs and benefits beyond the health system and may rely more heavily on data sources outside of randomized trials for evaluation. Public health interventions are also often implemented as a means to reduce social inequalities, both in terms of health and other metrics. Analysts must be aware that economic evaluations do not capture impacts on how health is distributed (i.e., equity) but rather how health can be maximized over an entire population. Several challenges relating to the complexity of public health interventions have been identified:

- Effectiveness: Economic evaluations require robust estimates of effectiveness, typically from systematic reviews of randomized trials. Given the nature of population-based and public health interventions, RCTs may not be feasible. This is not a challenge specific to economic evaluation but an underlying challenge of evaluation in general [95]. Analysts will then be faced with the challenge of using observational studies gathered from data sources such as electronic medical records, registries or administrative databases [96]. Since many population and public health interventions are intended to have long-term effects, statistical extrapolation techniques or mathematical modeling may need to be employed to estimate long-term outcomes using short term studies. It will be important for analysts to report these analytic assumptions in a clear and transparent manner to allow for replication and further exploration of the findings [29].
- 2) Valuing outcomes: There have been suggestions by some that QALYs may be less appropriate in public health interventions "designed to address health behaviours and inequities in health"[88]. Payne and colleagues describe an attempt to identify relevant outcomes from providing a clinical genetic service that includes a population-based screening program [6]. Through a review and nominal group technique, six outcome domains were identified that included non-health benefits related to providing a clinical genetic service. These are described in Figure 3. As with the previous example in integrated care, analysts may need to consider reporting additional consequences in a secondary analysis





(such as a cost-consequences analysis) taking great care not to double-count outcomes within health-preference-based measures (such as QALYs) that appear in a reference case analysis.

## Figure 3: Identified domains with their description and examples of outcome measures, adapted from Payne [6]

Domain	Description Used in Delphi	Examples of Outcome Measure Containing the Domain	
Knowledge of the genetic condition	Knowledge about the genetic condition in the person who attended the clinic. The aspects of knowledge measured include knowledge about the risks of the condition to them and other members of their family.	Breast Cancer Genetic Counselling Knowledge Questionnaire Genetic Knowledge Index Knowledge about genetic risk for breast cancer	
Anxiety	Whether using the service had changed how anxious the person felt.	Cancer Anxiety and Helplessness Scale General Health Questionnaire Hopkins Symptom Checklist	
Depression	Whether using the service had changed how depressed the person felt.	Beck Depression Inventory Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale Self-Rating Depression Scale	
Worry	Whether using the service had changed how worried the person felt.	Worry Interference Scale Breast Cancer Worry	
Health status	Whether using the service had changed the health of the patient. The aspects of health measured include ability to care for oneself, ability to perform day-to- day activities, pain, ability to get around, anxiety and depression.	Medical Outcomes Short-Form Survey (SF-36; SF-12)	
Quality of life	Whether using the service had changed the quality of life of the patient. The aspects of quality of life measured include physical and mental well- being, social and family relationships and attitudes to the future.	Subjective Quality of Life Profile Functional Assessment of Cancer Therapy-General	

3) **Resource use and cost:** Complex public health interventions are likely to have an effect on many resource use categories outside of the health sector. Weatherly reports the types of costs outside of health system costs identified in a review of economic evaluations of public health interventions (Figure 4). These costs include productivity losses to society due to missed work, out of pocket costs, social care costs, and costs to the criminal justice, education, housing, environment, and transport sectors. Although there may be compelling economic arguments for applying different discount rates to costs outside of health [97], current guidelines suggest applying a standard rate.





# Figure 4: Types of resource use categories that may require consideration in economic evaluations of public health (outside of health), from Weatherley [87]



4) Equity: Incorporating equity considerations into decision-making is a central theme in public health and has been an ongoing challenge in the field of economic evaluation for decades [88]. Current guidance suggests using equal equity weights in the Reference Case analysis and then encourages analysts to state the implications of the intervention on equity and for identifiable subgroups [33]. Weatherly suggests analysts should consider explicitly identifying equity considerations by conducting "a narrative review of the equity considerations at stake". Analysts are encouraged to consider approaches to explicitly identifying equity considerations in public health that have been described by Cookson and Drummond [74].

# Example 5 – Telehealth and e-health interventions - coupling an interactive patient portal with telehealth and case management

In their formative stages of development, telehealth interventions might have been considered as complex interventions. This was due to the several interacting components required that contributed to the effectiveness of the intervention including the travelled distance between care provider and patient and the presence of a separate capital structure that was the communications network. As economic researchers soon discovered, these characteristics of complexity could be handled with traditional economic concepts [28,98].

Telehealth and e-health interventions have now become more mainstream with useful application in primary and community-based interventions – often for purposes of better managing chronic disease or other conditions associated with considerable economic burden. For example, numerous e-health interventions combine case management with the use of patient web-based portals or SMS-based technology as a means to empower patients to individualize care and self-manage their conditions. At its core, efficient e-health applications reduce health human resource burden through automation. These complex interventions harbor a number of challenges for analysts, specifically:

1) **Perspective:** Depending on the perspective taken when conducting an economic evaluation, the patient's personal time may become a relevant variable and must be factored into the





analysis. If patients have to travel to the care providers (which was the alternative situation to using telehealth) then travel costs could be used as a measure of the value of patient's resources used. For an e-health intervention, the travel costs are opportunity costs: e-health helps patients avoid the travel and lost time from work (or leisure) that is associated with the intervention. Longer-term absences from work may translate into larger societal productivity costs. Analysts must take care to use appropriate techniques to value avoided travel and caregiver time.

2) Valuing Outcomes: In all the cases, the outcomes are standard measures that are used in economic evaluations. In his review of telehealth practices, Roine (2001) documented a number of telemedicine applications in which standard outcomes were used [98]. While it is true, in the case of telemedicine, that the circumstances underlying the patient/doctor interaction are more complex than in the case where there is a personal contact. But the economic principles are not at all different, and standard economic evaluation techniques are used.

**Suggestions for moving forward:** Telehealth and e-health interventions are likely to affect resources within the health system and outside the health system (e.g., travel costs for patients) and analysts will need to be prepared to additionally use a societal perspective when conducting economic evaluation. There may also be costs to stakeholders outside of patients and providers that need to be accounted for [28]. There may be additional issues related to e-health interventions when they are used for chronic disease management. For example, a systematic review of the health economic impact of disease management programs for COPD revealed most studies (82%) did not report detailed characteristics of institution(s) or region in which the intervention is implemented, e.g. size of the region and rural or urban environment. Only one study (of 11) reported a plan to avoid contamination by other interventions and only three (of 11) studies clearly provided details of the comparator [99]. A similar review of self-management programs in asthma found that few economic evaluations incorporated a form of analysis that allowed for comparability (e.g., such as CUA or CEA) [100]. Rather than developing new methods, this suggests analysts in this area may really want to ensure they are accurately applying existing ones, to ensure comparability of evaluations.

## **CONCLUDING REMARKS**

We hope this discussion paper will aid analysts in understanding and consistently applying a framework for the economic evaluation of complex health system interventions. Although analysts may encounter additional challenges not identified in this paper, we hope some of those discussed will better prepare them in areas where complex interventions are used. Consistent analysis is important to allow comparisons of the relative impact of interventions and to support knowledge translation and decision-making.

This paper is intended to only be a starting point for health system and policy researchers who wish to understand some of the fundamentals of economic evaluation and its application complex interventions. There may also be relevance for funders of research as well as knowledge users aiming for a deeper understanding of these issues and value of the results of such analyses. It is also intended to help health system and policy researchers understand some of the fundamentals of economic evaluation and its application. This paper should not be considered an exhaustive treatise





on the subject; it will be updated and revised regularly based on user feedback and the changing landscape in evaluation of complex interventions.

### REFERENCES

- 1. Added to the website by AO'leary. Document Record Instructions Contributor Data File [Internet]. Available: www.mrc.ac.uk/Utilities/Documentrecord/index.htm?d=MRC004871.
- 2. Boaz A, Baeza J, Fraser A, European Implementation Score Collaborative Group (EIS). Effective implementation of research into practice: an overview of systematic reviews of the health literature. *BMC Research Notes* 2011;4:212.
- 3. Tricco AC, Ivers NM, Grimshaw JM, *et al.* Effectiveness of quality improvement strategies on the management of diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet* 2012;379(9833): 2252–61.
- 4. Shiell A, Hawe P, Gold L. Complex interventions or complex systems? Implications for health economic evaluation. *BMJ* 2008;336(7656):1281–83.
- 5. Datta J, Petticrew M. Challenges to evaluating complex interventions: a content analysis of published papers. *BMC Public Health* 2013;13(1):568.
- 6. Payne K, McAllister M, Davies LM. Valuing the economic benefits of complex interventions: when maximising health is not sufficient. *Health Economics* 2013;22(3):258–71.
- 7. Gruen RL, Elliott JH, Nolan ML, et al. Sustainability science: an integrated approach for health-programme planning. *Lancet* 2008;372(9649):1579–89.
- 8. L Kodner D, Spreeuwenberg C. Integrated care: meaning, logic, applications, and implications - a discussion paper. *International Journal of Integrated Care* [Internet] 2 (2002). Available: www.ncbi.nlm.nib.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1480401/.
- 9. Shortell SM, Gillies RR, Anderson DA, Mitchell JB, Morgan KL. Creating organized delivery systems: the barriers and facilitators. *Hospital Health Services Administration* 1993;38(4):447–66.
- 10. Kodner DL. All together now: a conceptual exploration of integrated care. *Healthcare Quarterly* 2009;13 Spec No:6–15.
- 11. Eliasoph H, Monaghan B, Beaudoin R, et al. "We are all in this together": integrated health service plans in Ontario. *Healthcare Quarterly* 2007;10(3):82–7.
- 12. Frank C, Marshall D, Faris P, Smith C, Alberta Bone and Joint Health Institute. Essay for the CIHR/CMAJ award: improving access to hip and knee replacement and its quality by adopting a new model of care in Alberta. *CMAJ* 2011;183(6):E347–350.
- 13. Government of Canada CI of HR. Community-Based Primary Health Care CIHR [Internet]. (2011). Available: *www.cihr-irsc.gc.ca/e/43626.html*.
- 14. Kaczorowski J, Chambers LW, Dolovich L, et al. Improving cardiovascular health at population level: 39 community cluster randomised trial of Cardiovascular Health Awareness Program (CHAP). *BMJ* 2011;342:d442.
- 15. De Stampa M, Vedel I, Buyck J-F, et al. Impact on hospital admissions of an integrated primary care model for very frail elderly patients. *Archives of Gerontology & Geriatrics* (2014).





- Campbell NRC, Tu K, Brant R, Duong-Hua M, McAlister FA, Canadian Hypertension Education Program Outcomes Research Task Force. The impact of the Canadian Hypertension Education Program on antihypertensive prescribing trends. *Hypertension* 2006;47(1):22–8.
- 17. Muscedere J, Dodek P, Keenan S, et al. Comprehensive evidence-based clinical practice guidelines for ventilator-associated pneumonia: prevention. *Journal of Critical Care* 2008;23(1):126–37.
- 18. Muscedere J, Dodek P, Keenan S, et al. Comprehensive evidence-based clinical practice guidelines for ventilator-associated pneumonia: diagnosis and treatment. *Journal of Critical Care* 2008;23(1):138–47.
- 19. Sinuff T, Muscedere J, Cook DJ, et al. Implementation of clinical practice guidelines for ventilator-associated pneumonia: a multicenter prospective study. *Critical Care Medicine* 2013;41(1):15–23.
- 20. Dormuth CR, Maclure M, Bassett K, Jauca C, Whiteside C, Wright JM. Effect of periodic letters on evidence-based drug therapy on prescribing behaviour: a randomized trial. *CMAJ* 2004;171(9):1057–61.
- 21. Sen A, Wirjanto T. Estimating the impacts of cigarette taxes on youth smoking participation, initiation, and persistence: empirical evidence from Canada. *Health Economics* 2010;19(11):1264–80.
- 22. Formative Evaluation of the Youth Action Alliance (YAA) Program [Internet]. Ontario Tobacco Research Unit. Available: *http://otru.org/formative-evaluation-youth-action-alliance-yaa-program/*.
- 23. Government of Canada HC. First Nations and Inuit Mental Health and Addictions Cluster Evaluation 2005/06-2009/10 [Internet]. (2013). Available: *www.hc-sc.gc.ca/ahc-asc/performance/eval/2012/fni-addiction-evaluation-pni-eng.php#a2*.
- 24. Urowitz S, Wiljer D, Dupak K, *et al.* Improving diabetes management with a patient portal: a qualitative study of diabetes self-management portal. *Journal of Medical Internet Research* 2012;14(6):e158.
- Logan AG, Irvine MJ, McIsaac WJ, *et al.* Effect of home blood pressure telemonitoring with self-care support on uncontrolled systolic hypertension in diabetics. *Hypertension* 2012;60(1):51– 7.
- 26. Seto E, Leonard KJ, Cafazzo JA, Barnsley J, Masino C, Ross HJ. Mobile phone-based telemonitoring for heart failure management: a randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Medical Internet Research* 2012;14(1):e31.
- 27. Drummond MF, Sculpher MJ, Torrance G, O'Brien B, Stoddart G. *Methods for the Economic Evaluation of Health Care Programmes.* Third Edition. Oxford University Press.
- 28. Dávalos ME, French MT, Burdick AE, Simmons SC. Economic evaluation of telemedicine: review of the literature and research guidelines for benefit-cost analysis. *Telemedicine Journal and E-Health* 2009;15(10):933–48.





- Husereau D, Drummond M, Petrou S, et al. Consolidated Health Economic Evaluation Reporting Standards (CHEERS)-Explanation and Elaboration: A Report of the ISPOR Health Economic Evaluation Publication Guidelines Good Reporting Practices Task Force. *Value Health* 2013;16(2):231–50.
- 30. Ijzerman MJ, Steuten LMG. Early assessment of medical technologies to inform product development and market access: a review of methods and applications. *Applied Health Economics and Health Policy* 2011;9(5):331–47.
- 31. Drummond M, Brown R, Fendrick AM, et al. Use of pharmacoeconomics information--report of the ISPOR Task Force on use of pharmacoeconomic/health economic information in health-care decision making. *Value Health* 2003;6(4):407–16.
- 32. Facey K. Technology [Internet]. In: INAHTA Health Technology Assessment (HTA) Glossary. International Network of Agencies for Health Technology Assessment, Stockholm, Sweden (2006). Available: www.inahta.org/Glossary/#\_T.
- 33. CADTH. *Guidelines for the Economic Evaluation of Health Technologies: Canada.* Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health.
- 34. Government of Canada TB of C. Canadian cost-benefit analysis guide: Regulatory proposals [Internet]. (2007). Available: *www.tbs-sct.gc.ca/rtrap-parfa/analys/analystb-eng.asp*.
- 35. Mittmann N, Evans WK, Rocchi A, et al. Guidelines for health technologies: specific guidance for oncology products in Canada. *Value Health* 2012;15(3):580–85.
- 36. Walker DG, Hutubessy R, Beutels P. WHO Guide for standardisation of economic evaluations of immunization programmes. *Vaccine* 2010;28(11):2356–59.
- 37. Hay JW, Smeeding J, Carroll NV, et al. Good research practices for measuring drug costs in cost effectiveness analyses: issues and recommendations: the ISPOR Drug Cost Task Force report--Part I. *Value Health* 2010;13(1):3–7.
- 38. Garrison LP Jr, Mansley EC, Abbott TA 3rd, Bresnahan BW, Hay JW, Smeeding J. Good research practices for measuring drug costs in cost-effectiveness analyses: a societal perspective: the ISPOR Drug Cost Task Force report--Part II. *Value Health* 2010;13(1):8–13.
- 39. Mansley EC, Carroll NV, Chen KS, et al. Good research practices for measuring drug costs in cost-effectiveness analyses: a managed care perspective: the ISPOR Drug Cost Task Force report--Part III. *Value Health* 2010;13(1):14–17.
- 40. Mullins CD, Seal B, Seoane-Vazquez E, et al. Good research practices for measuring drug costs in cost-effectiveness analyses: Medicare, Medicaid and other US government payers perspectives: the ISPOR Drug Cost Task Force report--Part IV. *Value Health* 2010;13(1):18–24.
- 41. Mycka JM, Dellamano R, Kolassa EM, et al. Good research practices for measuring drug costs in cost effectiveness analyses: an industry perspective: the ISPOR Drug Cost Task Force report--Part V. *Value Health* 2010;13(1):25–7.
- 42. Shi L, Hodges M, Drummond M, et al. Good research practices for measuring drug costs in cost-effectiveness analyses: an international perspective: the ISPOR Drug Cost Task Force report--Part VI. *Value Health* 2010;13(1):28–33.





- Drummond M, Barbieri M, Cook J, et al. Transferability of economic evaluations across jurisdictions: ISPOR Good Research Practices Task Force report. *Value Health* 2009;12(4):409– 18.
- 44. Caro JJ, Briggs AH, Siebert U, Kuntz KM, ISPOR-SMDM Modeling Good Research Practices Task Force. Modeling good research practices--overview: a report of the ISPOR-SMDM Modeling Good Research Practices Task Force--1. *Value Health* 2012;15(6):796–803.
- 45. Roberts M, Russell LB, Paltiel AD, et al. Conceptualizing a model: a report of the ISPOR-SMDM Modeling Good Research Practices Task Force--2. *Value Health* 2012;15(6):804–11.
- 46. Siebert U, Alagoz O, Bayoumi AM, et al. State-transition modeling: a report of the ISPOR-SMDM Modeling Good Research Practices Task Force--3. *Value Health* 2012;15(6):812–20.
- Karnon J, Stahl J, Brennan A, et al. Modeling using discrete event simulation: a report of the ISPOR-SMDM Modeling Good Research Practices Task Force--4. *Value Health* 2012;15(6):821–27.
- 48. Pitman R, Fisman D, Zaric GS, et al. Dynamic transmission modeling: a report of the ISPOR-SMDM Modeling Good Research Practices Task Force--5. *Value Health* 2012;15(6):828–34.
- 49. Briggs AH, Weinstein MC, Fenwick EAL, *et al.* Model parameter estimation and uncertainty: a report of the ISPOR-SMDM Modeling Good Research Practices Task Force--6. *Value Health* 2012;15(6):835–42.
- 50. Eddy DM, Hollingworth W, Caro JJ, et al. Model transparency and validation: a report of the ISPOR-SMDM Modeling Good Research Practices Task Force--7. *Value Health* 2012;15(6):843–50.
- 51. Walker D, Wilson R, Sharma R, et al. Best practices for conducting economic evaluations in health care: A systematic review of quality assessment tools [Internet]. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality Available: *www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK114545/*.
- 52. Drummond M, Jefferson T. Guidelines for authors and peer reviewers of economic submissions to the BMJ. *BMJ* 1996;313(7052):275.
- 53. Ofman JJ, Sullivan SD, Neumann PJ, et al. Examining the value and quality of health economic analyses: implications of utilizing the QHES. *Journal of Managed Care Pharmacy* 2003;9(1):53–61.
- 54. Evers S, Goossens M, de Vet H, van Tulder M, Ament A. Criteria list for assessment of methodological quality of economic evaluations: Consensus on Health Economic Criteria. *International Journal of Technology Assessment in Health Care* 2005;21(2):240–45.
- 55. Weinstein MC, O'Brien B, Hornberger J, et al. Principles of good practice for decision analytic modeling in health-care evaluation: report of the ISPOR Task Force on Good Research Practices--Modeling Studies. *Value Health* 2003;6(1):9–17.
- 56. Anderson R. New MRC guidance on evaluating complex interventions. BMJ 2008;337:a1937.
- 57. Coast J, Hensher M, Mulligan JA, Shepperd S, Jones J. Conceptual and practical difficulties with the economic evaluation of health services developments. *Journal of Health Services Research*  $\dot{C}^{*}$  *Policy* 2000;5(1):42–8.
- 58. Lessard C. Complexity and reflexivity: two important issues for economic evaluation in health care. *Social Science & Medicine* 2007;64(8):1754–65.





- 59. Hoffmann TC, Glasziou PP, Boutron I, et al. Better reporting of interventions: template for intervention description and replication (TIDieR) checklist and guide. *BMJ* 2014;348:g1687.
- Ling T. Evaluating complex and unfolding interventions in real time. *Evaluation* 2012;18(1):79–91.
- 61. Campbell M, Fitzpatrick R, Haines A, et al. Framework for design and evaluation of complex interventions to improve health. *BMJ* 2000;321(7262):694–6.
- 62. Petticrew M, Rehfuess E, Noyes J, et al. Synthesizing evidence on complex interventions: how meta-analytical, qualitative, and mixed-method approaches can contribute. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology* 2013;66(11):1230–43.
- 63. Tappenden P, Chilcott J, Brennan A, Squires H, Stevenson M. Whole disease modeling to inform resource allocation decisions in cancer: A methodological framework. *Value in Health* 2012;15(8):1127–36.
- 64. Tosh J, Kearns B, Brennan A, et al. Innovation in health economic modelling of service improvements for longer-term depression: demonstration in a local health community. *BMC Health Services Research* 2013;13(1):150.
- 65. Van Gestel A, Severens JL, Webers CAB, Beckers HJM, Jansonius NM, Schouten JSAG. Modeling complex treatment strategies: Construction and validation of a discrete event simulation model for glaucoma. *Value in Health* 2010;13(4):358–67.
- 66. Sefton T. *Making the most of it: economic evaluation in the social welfare field*. Published for the Joseph Rowntree Foundation by YPS, York.
- 67. Papadakis S, Oldridge NB, Coyle D, et al. Economic evaluation of cardiac rehabilitation: a systematic review. *European Journal of Cardiovascular Prevention and Rehabilitation* 2005;12(6):513–20.
- 68. Willems DCM, Joore MA, Hendriks JJE, Wouters EFM, Severens JL. Cost-effectiveness of self-management in asthma: a systematic review of peak flow monitoring interventions. *International Journal of Technology Assessment in Health Care* 2006;22(4):436–42.
- 69. Dahrouge S, Devlin RA, Hogg B, Russell G, Coyle D, Fergusson D. The economic impact of improvements in primary healthcare performance [Internet]. Canadian Foundation for Healthcare Improvement, Ottawa Available: *www.cfhi-fcass.ca/publicationsandresources/ researchreports/ArticleView/12-05-22/69ba64a0-7283-4994-a766-587380e81b78.aspx.*
- Wade VA, Karnon J, Elshaug AG, Hiller JE. A systematic review of economic analyses of telehealth services using real time video communication. *BMC Health Service Research* 2010;10:233.
- 71. Roberts E, Cumming J, Nelson K. A review of economic evaluations of community mental health care. *Medical Care Research and Review* 2005;62(5):503–43.
- 72. Daigle ME, Weinstein AM, Katz JN, Losina E. The cost-effectiveness of total joint arthroplasty: a systematic review of published literature. *Best Practice & Research. Clinical Rheumatology* 2012;26(5):649–58.
- 73. Health Quality Council of Alberta. Alberta Quality Matrix for Health User Guide. [Internet]. (2005). Available: *www.hqca.ca/assets/pdf/User%20Guide%20R290506.pdf*.





- 74. Cookson R, Drummond M, Weatherly H. Explicit incorporation of equity considerations into economic evaluation of public health interventions. *Health Economics, Policy, and Law* 2009;4(Pt 2):231–45.
- 75. Manns BJ, Tonelli M, Zhang J, et al. Enrolment in primary care networks: impact on outcomes and processes of care for patients with diabetes. *CMAJ* 2012;184(2):E144–52.
- 76. McBrien KA, Manns B. Approach to economic evaluation in primary care: review of a useful tool for primary care reform. *Canadian Family Physician* 2012;59(6):619–27.
- 77. McBrien KA, Manns B. Approach to economic evaluation in primary care: review of a useful tool for primary care reform. *Canadian Family Physician* 2012;59(6):619–27.
- 78. Noyes J, Gough D, Lewin S, *et al.* A research and development agenda for systematic reviews that ask complex questions about complex interventions. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology* 2013;66(11):1262–70.
- Hoomans T, Abrams KR, Ament AJHA, Evers SMAA, Severens JL. Modeling the value for money of changing clinical practice change: a stochastic application in diabetes care. *Medical Care* 2009;47(10):1053–61.
- 80. Mason J, Wood J, Freemantle N. Designing evaluations of interventions to change professional practice. *Journal of Health Services Research & Policy* 1999;4(2):106–11.
- 81. Sculpher M. Evaluating the cost-effectiveness of interventions designed to increase the utilization of evidence-based guidelines. *Family Practice* 2000;17(Suppl 1):S26–31.
- 82. Vale L, Thomas R, MacLennan G, Grimshaw J. Systematic review of economic evaluations and cost analyses of guideline implementation strategies. *The European Journal of Health Economics* 2007;8(2):111–21.
- 83. Rawlins M. De testimonio: on the evidence for decisions about the use of therapeutic interventions. *Lancet* 2008;372(9656):2152–61.
- 84. Fenwick E, Claxton K, Sculpher M. The value of implementation and the value of information: combined and uneven development. *Medical Decision Making* 2008;28(1):21–32.
- 85. Hoomans T, Fenwick EAL, Palmer S, Claxton K. Value of information and value of implementation: application of an analytic framework to inform resource allocation decisions in metastatic hormone-refractory prostate cancer. *Value Health* 2009;12(2):315–24.
- 86. Hoomans T, Severens JL, Evers SMAA, Ament AJHA. Value for money in changing clinical practice: should decisions about guidelines and implementation strategies be made sequentially or simultaneously? *Medical Decision Making* 2009;29(2):207–16.
- Weatherly H, Drummond M, Claxton K, et al. Methods for assessing the cost-effectiveness of public health interventions: key challenges and recommendations. *Health Policy* 2009;93(2-3):85–92.
- 88. Curtis LJ. Economics, Health Economics, Evaluation, and Public Health [Internet]. (2013). Available: *www.nccph.ca/docs/Curtis\_HE\_PH\_En.pdf*.
- 89. Chokshi DA, Farley TA. The cost-effectiveness of environmental approaches to disease prevention. *New England Journal of Medicine* 2012;367(4):295–97.





- 90. Datta J, Petticrew M. Challenges to evaluating complex interventions: a content analysis of published papers. *BMC Public Health* 2013;13:568.
- 91. Whitehead M, Petticrew M, Graham H, Macintyre SJ, Bambra C, Egan M. Evidence for public health policy on inequalities: 2: assembling the evidence jigsaw. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health* 2004;58(10):817–21.
- 92. Mooney G. Economic evaluation of prevention: we need to do better but first we need to sort out what the good is. *International Journal of Public Health* 2007;52(6):339–40.
- 93. Banta HD, de Wit GA. Public health services and cost-effectiveness analysis. *Annual Review of Public Health* 2008;29:383–97.
- 94. Advancing Population and Public Health Economics: Workshop Proceedings [Internet]. (2013). Available: *www.nccph.ca/docs/PublicHealthEconomicsReport-En.pdf*.
- 95. Hawe P. Complex interventions: how "out of control" can a randomised controlled trial be? *BMJ* 2004;328(7455):1561–63.
- Garrison LP, Neumann PJ, Erickson P, Marshall D, Mullins CD. Using real-world data for coverage and payment decisions: The ISPOR real-world data task force report. *Value in Health* 2007;10(5):326–35.
- 97. Claxton K, Paulden M, Gravelle H, Brouwer W, Culyer AJ. Discounting and decision making in the economic evaluation of health-care technologies. *Health Economics* 2011;20(1):2–15.
- 98. Roine R, Ohinmaa A, Hailey D. Assessing telemedicine: a systematic review of the literature. *CMAJ* 2001;165(6):765–71.
- 99. Boland MRS, Tsiachristas A, Kruis AL, Chavannes NH, Rutten-van Mölken MPMH. The health economic impact of disease management programs for COPD: a systematic literature review and meta-analysis. *BMC Pulmonary Medicine* 2013;13:40.
- 100. Willems DCM, Joore MA, Hendriks JJE, Wouters EFM, Severens JL. Cost-effectiveness of self-management in asthma: a systematic review of peak flow monitoring interventions. *International Journal of Technology Assessment in Health Care* 2006;22(4):436–42.

This discussion paper has been produced in response to a request from *CIHR Institute of Health Services and Policy Research (CIHR IHSPR)*. The discussion paper will provide guidance to those tasked with conducting an economic evaluation of complex health system interventions. The guidance will be an elaboration of existing National guidelines for economic evaluation, and serve as a discussion paper to aid investigators conducting economic evaluations of complex health interventions. This paper is intended to be a starting point for health system and policy researchers who wish to understand some of the fundamentals of economic evaluation and its application complex interventions.



Institute of Health Economics 1200 – 10405 Jasper Avenue Edmonton AB Canada T5J 3N4 Tel. 780.448.4881 Fax. 780.448.0018 info@ihe.ca

www.ihe.ca

ISBN 978-1-926929-19-4 (on-line)